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Chair’s Foreword 
 

I am delighted to introduce the Annual Report and Accounts for 
2019. It was a great privilege to have been invited to become 
Chair of The Charity for Civil Servants and I have really enjoyed 
getting more closely involved with this important Charity.  

I was also pleased to see the hard work of the Charity recognised 
at the Institute of Money Advisors’ conference, winning the Best 
Financial Capability product of the year for our work, ‘Making 
Money Matter’. 

Throughout the year, the Charity has continued to make an enormous difference to the 
lives of so many, helping people at times when they most needed support. 

This report sets out just a few of the Charity’s key achievements, along with some of the 
vital work undertaken on behalf of the Civil Service community, for which it exists to 
serve.   

Once again, there has been a growth in the overall instances of help (up 67% year on year) 
to around 80,000 in 2019.  The Charity continues to adapt and develop its offer to meet 
the changing needs of those we help and support in the most effective ways. 

On behalf of everyone the Charity has been able to help, I would like to thank all our 
supporters, donors, partners and volunteers for all their efforts.  I would particularly like 
to thank the Civil Service Insurance Society (CSIS) and its Charity Fund – our largest 
donor organisation – for their continued support.  

I would also like to say a personal thank you to the Board of Trustees for their 
commitment, guidance and unstinting dedication in support of everyone in the Civil 
Service community - and also for making me so welcome as the new Chair.  

I took great pride in presenting the Community Award 2019 to the menopause working 
group at the Charity’s event in November, recognising the outstanding work being done 
across the Civil Service to better support each other to overcome life’s challenges and 
thrive. 

Since this introduction was first written, there have been a significant number of 
developments related to the Covid-19 pandemic. Its full impact on the future plans and 
operations of all organisations, including the Charity, are not yet clear. There are 
obviously unprecedented challenges for everyone ahead, but I am confident that the 
Charity will continue working hard to maintain the same quality of help and support for 
our civil service community throughout. 

Finally, I would like to thank everyone who works for the organisation.  You do a really 
important job and the Charity simply couldn’t make the difference that it does without 
your expertise, drive and sheer hard work.  I know it is very much appreciated.     

 

 

Peter Schofield CB 
Chair, Board of Trustees  
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The Trustees of The Charity for Civil Servants present their Annual Report for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 under the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006, 
including the Trustees’ Annual Report comprising the Strategic Report and the Directors’ 
Report under the 2006 Act together with the audited financial statements for the year.        

Trustees’ Strategic Report 
Objectives & Activities 

Given the large number of serving and former civil servants and public body employees 
(and their dependants) that fall under the Charity’s remit, the Trustees are satisfied that 
the Charity is providing public benefit under the Charities Act 2011.  Further details are 
given under Achievements and Performance below. They are also satisfied that they have 
had due regard to the public benefit guidance published by the Charity Commission and 
in particular the requirement that the Charity benefits a sufficient section of the public. 

 
The Charity exists to support all civil servants, past and present, when times are tough, 
listening without judgement and providing practical, financial and emotional support.  
Alongside financial grants and issue-specific advice, we continue to develop and enhance 
our services, offering digital and self-help tools and techniques, which meet the changing 
needs our Civil Service community. 

We help people to deal with the complex challenges, which anyone can face throughout 
their lives, from mental or physical health issues and financial capability and debt 
management, to relationship breakdown, caring responsibilities and bereavement. 

 
We regularly review our aims, objectives and activities, and in doing so evaluate the 
appropriateness and effectiveness of our services.  As a result of these reviews, we have 
continued to develop the Charity’s offer, details of which are outlined in this Trustees’ 
Strategic Report. 

[ 
A supportive community in which everyone has the chance to live their life to the full. 

 

[ 
Helping people to overcome life’s challenges and thrive. 

The Charity’s Mission 

[ 
  
“For the public benefit, to relieve from suffering, hardship or distress (whether financial 
or otherwise), and to promote and sustain the wellbeing of Civil Servants, former Civil 
Servants, Public Body Employees or former Public Body Employees, employees and 
former employees of the Charity (and any predecessor organisation of it) and their 
dependants including without limitation by:  

i. offering lifelong practical, financial and emotional support, advice and guidance;  
ii. providing direct support to individuals, using other available channels to enable 

civil service communities to connect and support each other, and collaborating with 
other organisations.             

 
 

The Charity’s Objects 

The Charity’s Vision 
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“Sometimes it’s easier to talk to a stranger 
about your problems. That phone call made a 
long-term difference to how I felt about my 
situation and myself. I wouldn’t be here 
today if I hadn’t reached out to the Charity.” 

Cecilia, Cabinet Office 

Achievements and Performance 
Once again, the Charity has worked hard to develop its offer, extending both its reach and 
relevance.  With Service Evolution, Engagement and Sustainability  still at the heart of 
our strategic approach, the number of times people approached the Charity for help 
increased across 2019 by 67% (year on year) to around 80,000 – significantly up from 
15,000 as recently as 2016. 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
This Annual Report and Accounts sets out how the Charity has delivered against its 
strategy in 2019 and how the organisation will continue to make an important 
contribution in the future to the lives of so many people in our community and 
particularly those in need of our support.    

  

c.15,000 

c.48,000 
c.40,000 

c.80,000 
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Key Measures of Success in 2019 
Set out below are just a few key measures of how we’ve done, snapshots showing how the 
Charity performed across 2019 in pursuit of its three strategic goals: Service Evolution, 
Engagement and Sustainability. 

Service Evolution 

We wanted to broaden our offers 
of help in all areas, using digital 
and self-help tools to maximise 
our reach at all times of the day, 
including webinars and ChatBots. 

 

We wanted to ratify our outcomes 
framework to understand our 
impact better and prioritise 
development and delivery of help. 

 

Engagement 

We wanted to run high-profile campaigns, to embed the Charity in Civil Service 
workplaces, referencing the big issues of the day. 
 
 
 
 
 

We wanted to understand how 
best to help civil servants through 
moments of change and 
transition and then use the 
output to better equip civil 
servants. 

 

Sustainability 

We wanted to achieve regular 
income of £4.3million. 

Regular Income totalled: £4.3million 
 

We wanted to receive £51,000 in 
one-off donations. 

One off income totalled: £55,000  
 

We wanted to grow annualised 
new donor income significantly. 

Annualised new donor income: £89,000  
(27% of target) 

 

We wanted to reduce the number 
of lapsed donors to beneath 8,400. 

Lapsed donors: 7,852  

2,100 people registered  

Help Webinars 

on  20+ different topics 

for our 

3,000 signposted people  
8,500 had over Our ChatBots 

to specific help content at least  

conversations and 

times.  

We started working with: 

Sleepstation 
Brain in Hand 
Carer’s UK 
Cruse 

Working with Simetrica in 2019, we determined: 

for every £1 we spent on our applicant help in the previous 

year, we created between £5.10 and £9.40 in social value. 

A full report on “Quantifying Impact” is available on our website. 

Quotes from John Manzoni (Chief Executive of the Civil Service) helped us successfully promote the Charity’s Wellbeing Hub with 

people downloading our resources 51,000 times across 2019. 

Working with 
the think tank 
DEMOS, we 
published the 
following 
report… 

Watch this space for 
our Change and 
Transition Toolkit 
launching in 2020.  
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Service Delivery and Service Evolution 
In 2019, we continued to diversify content, tools and resources for help, and added to our 
offer with “light touch” services that do not require full income and expenditure details 
from applicants.  This resulted in more phone calls and greater usage of certain offers 
such as the Law Express app. 

We had fewer requests for financial assistance in 2019 than 2018.  There are several 
factors potentially driving this, including less frequent messaging in campaigns 
highlighting financial assistance, difficulty navigating around the Charity’s website and 
an increased number of verification checks required as a result of enhanced anti-fraud 
controls.  While essential, these checks may be putting off people from applying, or these 
additional processes may mean fewer of the requests received lead to direct financial 
assistance. 

We need to address this decline in requests and payments with a mixture of personal 
intervention and digital ease of access.  Our 2020 engagement plan includes the wider 
potential launch of our Community Exchange.  We will also continue to work to ensure 
the Charity and its messages are included in induction programmes and at ‘moments 
that matter’, for example, pre-retirement.  This will ensure that in the future we can reach 
more of the former civil servant community who are currently very hard to reach because 
we have no easy means to find or contact them. 

A further initiative to address this in 2020 will be trialling ‘carer conversations’, where 
we target those carers who have not directly identified financial 
need, but who are likely to be experiencing this.  Another is the use 
of ‘Minimum Income Standards’ to cut out one part of the process 
where people are clearly below the threshold for their household. 

There was an anticipated fall in numbers of Carer’s Passports 
issued (following Departments taking up this activity 
themselves), which was offset by an increase in wellbeing 
conversations requested.  Money advice referrals were relatively 
stable.  Working with Carers UK, our Carers Hub now has 
extensive content and resources around all areas of caring such as 
nutrition and local support, as well as a Carers app and online 
forums. 

We have seen the wellbeing offer in the workplace improve 
significantly allowing us to put a greater focus on help outside the 
workplace. We continue to work with reputable partners such as 
Anxiety UK and Relate, and have also worked with digital 
suppliers who have proven products.  ‘Sleepstation’, for example, 
has taken people through a programme to identify and improve 
sleep patterns and this has had good take-up and impact. ‘Brain in 
Hand’ has also had positive impacts with high daily usage by 
people with anxiety and/or autism.  

The Charity’s chatbots for wellbeing and money advice had over 
8,500 conversations, and 2,100 people registered for our webinars 
in 2019, with the content now available on-demand for people to 
access 24/7. 

Sleepstation: 
This year 519 people 

completed the 1-week sleep 
tracker and 250 went onto 

engage with therapy. 

Brain in Hand: 
35 people engaged with 
Brain in Hand, an app 

suitable for people with a 
range of neuro-diverse and 
mental health difficulties, 

including anxiety and 
autism. 

Carer’s Resource: 
This ‘one stop shop’ for 

Carers was launched 
during Carers’ Week in 

June. Over 200 accounts 
have been made already, 
with further promotion 

planned in 2020. 

New in 2019 
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The mix of digital and financial support may be currently accessed through different 
routes – in 2020, our digital work will focus on these customer journeys to ensure we 
capture all the needs at any stage, so that people can move easily from one type of help to 
another.  This is an ongoing challenge to simplify because different services and help 
require different types and levels of evidence and information. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grant Making Policy 
Our charitable objects include relief from hardship or distress (whether financial or 
otherwise) for the public benefit of current or former civil servants and their 
dependants.  Grants are made within our charitable objects and the agreed strategy of 
the Charity. All grants are subject to a formal approval process.  

We award grants on the basis of:  

 Eligibility – the applicant must be a current, former or retired eligible person, 
or their financial dependant; 

 Circumstances that cause hardship and distress including ill health, caring, 
bereavement, domestic abuse, relationship breakdown, reduced income and 
unsafe or inappropriate accommodation; 

 Need – establishing the specific needs, which may not always be exactly what 
has been requested – for example if someone wanted a sofa but their child had 
no bed, the bed would be more of a priority;  

 Alternative resources – this may be an entitlement to benefits, or grants from 
other charities, and in some cases they may be additional help rather than 
alternative help.  

Grants include financial help payments for emergency situations, grants to replace 
items that have broken or need repair, grants towards essential household bills, 
advanced rent and deposit for a new rented property, travel expenses, mobility aids 
and adaptations, as well as payment to third party suppliers for assessment of 
wellbeing, relationship counselling.  

 

“I had to pay a lot for childcare as I was working 
full-time and my kids were still young.  I ended up 
in a situation where I was paying out more than 
what I was earning.  I became very stressed.  I felt 
crippled.  That’s when my manager mentioned the 
Charity.  I gave them a call.  They really listened to 
me.  The financial support made a big difference to 
my life at the time.  I could finally get a good 
night’s sleep.” 

Sam, HMRC 



THE CHARITY FOR CIVIL SERVANTS 
TRUSTEES’ ANNUAL REPORT 2019 

 

7 
 

Financial Payments 

 
We gave out around £2m in financial assistance in 4,043 payments in the year (2018: 
£2.2m in 3,786 payments).  Against a general trend of fewer grant payments in most 
categories, we doubled the numbers of payments from 220 to 446 in advice, counselling 
and therapy, but only spent 40% more (£46k in 2018, £64.5k in 2019), reflecting the 
increase in range and value of new wellbeing offers. 

Other areas where numbers of payments increased were breathing space grants, 
reflecting the income squeeze and continued debt problems of households (1,062 
payments amounting to £450k compared with 987 payments amounting to £410k in 
2018).  We paid less in number but more in amount towards essential household bills, (380 
payments and £316k in 2019, compared with 418 payments and £310k in 2018). This may 
partly be a result of more help available through alternative resources and support for 
vulnerable customers, as well as nudge behaviour towards direct debit; however, with 
fuel bill rises continuing to outstrip inflation, when bills go into arrears the debt rises 
quickly.  

Household items were less requested (568 payments and £299k in 2019 compared with 
693 payments £409k in 2018).  Similarly, essential living costs were lower, with the 
number of payments in 2019 (407 payments £162k compared with 544 payments and 
£218k in 2018).  With good quality, good value suppliers, we want to refocus on essential 
needs in 2020. 

Social Value: Showcasing Impact 
Now more than ever, charities need to evidence their reason for existence. We can no 
longer simply assume that our charitable status makes us worthy of support. There are 
other considerations, such as ethical/social and human costs, associated to our products 
and services that now take up an ever-increasing share in people’s decision-making 
processes. We call these other considerations ‘social value’.  

39%
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10%
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7%
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3% 2%
2%

1%

0%
Expenditure in Financial Support

Reduced insufficient or low income (£776k)

Ill Health (£403k)
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Bereavement (£186k)
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Unsafe unstable living arrangements (£32k)

Emergency Situation (£29k)
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Domestic Abuse (£55k)

Community projects (£33k)

Unsafe unstable living arrangements (£30k)

Emergency Situation (£30k)

Caring (£8k)
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1. There was a statistically significant increase in wellbeing, confidence 
and knowledge cited and a decrease in stress for people, when 
assessed after 6-11 months  
after their application had been received. 

55% of people helped saw a 
reduction in stress between the 

time they put in their application 
and the time they took the survey. 

57% said they felt more confident, this 
increased significantly to 72% for those who 

came with a Wellbeing main reason and 
received at least one financial help.  

Social Value has many definitions, but these two sum up the various elements well: 

 “The social, economic and environmental wellbeing benefit achieved” NCVO 2017 
 “The tangible impact created for society, by or through, the actions and decisions 

of an individual or organisation” Social Value Business, 2018 

In order to prove your business, organisation or service provides any additional social 
value, robust assessment, analysis and clear evidence is needed. The third sector has 
traditionally tried to explain its additional value through ‘Impact Reporting’. Impact (in 
this sense) means the long-term and lasting change, or the difference made, by an 
organisation to the people/groups it is there to help. For the Charity, this would be civil 
servants and potentially the whole Civil Service. 

At the end of last year, we committed to 
improving the way we report on impact and 
hoped to utilise social value metrics to do this. So, 
to begin to deliver on this promise we designed a 
programme of activity to robustly capture the 
impact created by our application help.  

Holistic Survey Reflecting on 2018 
During 2019, the Charity wanted to better understand the lasting impact our 
interventions had on people.  We sent a survey to all applicants from 2018 that we had an 
email address for (c. 5,500 people) and received just over 850 responses that we could 
analyse.  

The survey asked the following style of questioning: 

 How do you feel before and after your application? (Wellbeing Change) 
 What did you want and what did you receive? 
 What outcomes and/or behaviour did you experience? 
 Who are you? (Demographic data) 

It was designed to help us achieve four main aims:  

1. Discover if our interventions have a lasting impact on our applicants 
2. Explore the idea of wellbeing being used as a holistic measure across all types of 

help 
3. Assess whether the anticipated outcomes of specific help were proven 
4. Understand more about the people who use the Charity’s services and why 

We discovered…  
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*Full findings, definitions and workings are in the full report: Quantifying our Impact, available on our website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Simetrica assessed the value for money (VfM) associated with the increase  
in wellbeing.  This independent analysis determined that the Charity 
achieved £5.10 (lowest bound) and £9.40 (upper bound) in social value for 
every £1 we invest in applicant help. 2. 

Wellbeing 
increase 
was the 
holistic 

measure we 
wanted to 

explore 
during this 
evaluation, 
in order to 

test the 
effect of 

tying 
together all 
the types of 

help we 
provide. 

Simetrica assessed a +0.86 increase in Life Satisfaction scores across all  
those helped. This seemed surprisingly high, which is why for the Value 

for Money exercise we applied a 90% Confidence Level. 
  

Using a benefit per beneficiary amount of between £6,956 
(Unconstructed Evaluation) to £7,075 (Constructed Evaluation)*  

we determined a total benefit amount of somewhere  
between £29 and £53million.  

  

In 2018, we spent £5.7million to deliver application help.  This means 
for every £1 we invested, we brought a return of between  

£5.10 and £9.40 in social value. 
 

 

This started to show us the interlinked nature of our help and why we needed a wider 
holistic measure to cover all our types of help. The diagram below shows the flow of 

people’s ‘main reason’ for applying to the Charity on the left, to the actual ‘help’ types 
they received on the right. A significant number of people coming to us for ‘wellbeing’ 

main reasons, ended up receiving financial help product. 

 

https://www.foryoubyyou.org.uk/about-us/our-publications


THE CHARITY FOR CIVIL SERVANTS 
TRUSTEES’ ANNUAL REPORT 2019 

 

10 
 

*Full findings, definitions and workings are in the full report: Quantifying our Impact, available on our website. 

 

3. 

We had a broadly 
representative sample, when 

compared to existing applicant 
and Civil Service data.  

 
48% had followed up with a suggested organisation.  

This increased to 74% for those who had already, and 
who also intended to follow up, but hadn’t yet done so.  

 
Though our Caring help doesn’t seem to improve 
wellbeing, it is hugely beneficial in changing workplace 
outcomes. 55% said their caring responsibility affected 
their attendance at work less, and 59% said their 
performance was affected less, now they had their Carer’s 
Passport/Statement. 

 
There was a 46% reduction 
in people saying they were 
finding it quite or very 
difficult to manage 
financially at the time of 
the survey, compared to 
just before applying.  

88% said we had, at least in 
part, helped to resolve the 
situation they were in, after 
receiving at least one of our 
financial helps.  

 

We had positive improvements against the vast majority of outcomes, 
which were statistically significant across all service areas, verifying our 
outcomes framework. 

The demographic data collected from our applicants, provides evidence that 
we are representing our community well, with a wide variety of people 
participating.  4. 

It is important to note that 76% of people were classified as 
having one of the following: on a household  

income of Under 20k; a carer; or had a long-term health 
condition.  7% could be deemed as in in-work poverty. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Next Steps 
This is only the start of our Social Value and Impact Reporting journey. We want to be able 
to robustly evidence the value we have as an organisation across all the areas of our work.  
In reality this means: 

1. Making our evaluation points mirror sector best 
practice, and therefore removing the need for 
retrospective analysis.  

2. Extending our impact analysis to the other types of 
help we provide. We have just started to analyse the 
potential long-term impact of the Wellbeing Hub 
containing digital resources and signposting 
hosted on our website in a ‘customisable’ portal. 
Initial results look promising. 

3. Conducting further research into the work our 
volunteers do. 

4. Keeping up the work we have started in employee 
satisfaction. 

5. Working to better understand our place in the 
wider landscape of the Charity and Public sector. 

https://www.foryoubyyou.org.uk/about-us/our-publications
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Wellbeing Barometer 
Throughout 2019 we progressed our wellbeing measurement to try and create a picture 
of the wellbeing of the Civil Service. We have been gathering information over the last 
few years by including the four ONS Wellbeing questions in a number of different 
surveys. This year we brought all the sources together to create quite a large dataset: our 
Wellbeing Barometer.  

 

The ONS have measured national wellbeing since 2010, to show “how we are doing” as 
individuals, communities and the nation as a whole, using these four questions. They are 
always asked like this: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  Survey Satisfaction Worthwhile Happiness Anxiousness No. in Sample 

  UK Average (June,2019) 7.71 7.89 7.55 2.9 320,000 
 

  Civil Servant Sample 6.57 6.76 6.57 3.97 1,087 
 

  CS Live 7.07       1,344 

  Charity Volunteers 7.69 8.02 7.6 3.5 42 

  Walking Challenge Participants 7.18 7.38 7.09 3.79 2,773 

  Applicants at point of Application 4.24 4.78 4.13 6.29 1,080 

  Applicants 6-11 months later 5.59 6.12 5.48 5.11 852 
 
 

Alongside the wellbeing data, we have also collected a variety of demographic 
information, thereby allowing us to segment the results further.  Moving forward, we 
want to grow this data set further, and use it to share with key stakeholders within the 
Civil Service; giving additional layers of wellbeing insight to their own measures. 

 

  

Next, I would like to ask you four questions about your feelings on aspects of your 
life. There are no right or wrong answers. For each of these questions I’d like you to 
give an answer on a scale of 0 to 10, where 0 is “not at all” and 10 is “completely”. 

1. Overall, how satisfied are you with your life nowadays? 
2. Overall, to what extent do you feel that the things you do in your life are worthwhile?  
3. Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday? 
4. On a scale where 0 is “not at all anxious” and 10 is “completely anxious”, overall, how 

anxious did you feel yesterday? 
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Engagement  
Engagement is key to helping the Charity reach and support more people. We have a 
dedicated team working within Civil Service offices to raise awareness of our services 
and the other ways which we support current, former and retired civil servants.    

Issue Led Campaigns 

The Charity runs issues-based campaigns that are linked to the identified needs of the 
people we support.  In addition to the three core wellbeing campaigns (financial, mental 
health, and caring) for the year, we ran an extra campaign responding to the impact that 
Brexit was having on the mental health and wellbeing of civil servants.  The campaign 
saw over 50,000 users access the newly launched mental health and wellbeing hub in 
65,000 sessions, where people downloaded its content over 12,000 times.  We are grateful 
to Sir John Manzoni KCB, Chief Executive of the Civil Service and Permanent Secretary 
for the Cabinet Office, who was very supportive of this campaign. 

To coincide with Mental 
Health Awareness Week (13 - 
19 May 2019), the Charity 
launched the campaign 
#BeBodyKind, specifically 
looking at the issue of 
negative body image across 
our community.  One aspect 
of the campaign looked at the 
impact that societal 
promotion of the ‘ideal man’ 

(being strong, tough, and muscular) has on people like Adam from Scottish Government 
(pictured).  Through his story, we highlighted the new Wellbeing Hub; a tool that brings 
together techniques to improve resilience, something people have told us they 
desperately needed. 

Our Caring Campaign for 2019 saw the Charity launch a Carer’s Digital Resource, 
providing practical support for those with caring responsibilities within the community.  
Launched during Carers Week 2019 (10th-16th June), the key message focused on ‘Carers 
need help too’.  It was featured across our digital platforms, and was promoted through 
Carers’ Support Networks across the Civil Service.  

#talkmoney was launched to promote good conversations about financial health within 
our community.  Featuring stories from people the Charity has previously supported, the 
campaign promoted ‘JaneBot’, our interactive chatbot, that can have conversations at any 
time with anyone about money.  The aim was to empower users to take positive steps to 
improve their financial health with a range of resources, tools and techniques designed 
to help.  Working with charity partners including CSIS, the campaign ran during 
November across our digital platforms and through our network within the Civil Service, 
the campaign saw thousands of sessions through our website and chatbot. 

 

Adam, Scottish Government 
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Field Engagement 
We spoke to more than 30,000 civil servants in over 800 
locations across 2019 at events like CS Live and in Civil Service 
workplaces up and down the country (2018: circa 20,000).  As 
a result, nearly 1,000 people were signposted to our Help and 
Advice services, over 2,000 pledged to give regularly, and 200 
expressed an interest in volunteering for the Charity.  

Strategic Engagement 
In 2019, we developed a new engagement strategy with Civil 
Service departments across the UK to better deliver the 
Charity's mission.  This saw the newly formed Strategic Engagement Team building 
meaningful and sustainable relationships with senior members of the Civil Service so 
that more people have a positive ongoing relationship with the Charity.  Doing so seeks to 
increase the number of requests for help the Charity receives and also aspires to build our 
number of regular supporters. Despite only launching in the latter part of the year, early 
wins include increased engagement across all UK Devolved Nations and every major 
government department.  The Charity has also become a trusted partner with the Civil 
Service Fast Stream Programme.   

Volunteering 
112 new people decided to formally volunteer with the Charity in 2019 (2018:53) meaning 
that we now have 454 active volunteers (2018: 373) across the Civil Service family.  We 
have a mix of current and former civil servants from across the UK who regularly give 
their time to support the Charity's mission.  In 2019, they delivered over 125 
awareness events, visited 43 people requesting help from the Charity, and 
distributed more than 3,000 pieces of promotional material, such as posters 
and leaflets, to increase awareness.  

2019 also saw the Charity host the 2nd annual Community Awards (see 
photos) in November showcasing the positive contributions made across 

the Civil Service every day by people 
volunteering their time, talent, and 
passion.  25 award winners were 
announced at Haberdashers’ Hall at an event 
recognised for its genuine community feel, 

including the Menopause 
Working Group who were 
the 2019 People's Choice 
award winners.  

  

 

 

One of our volunteers, Lynne, with Sir John 
Manzoni KCB, at our CS Live 2019 stand. 
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Sustainability  
The Charity for Civil Servants is committed to fundraising in an honest and transparent 
way, and relies on the generosity of our supporters to fund our work. 

The Charity is registered with the Fundraising Regulator and the Data & Marketing 
Association (DMA). We are committed to ‘Our Supporter Promise’ which we have 
published (see below), and adherence to the Code of Fundraising Practice. We also 
subscribe to the Data & Marketing Association (DMA) Code as part of our organisational 
membership. This report covers the requirements charities must follow as set out in the 
Charities Act 2016. 

The Director of Strategic Marketing and Income Generation, who reports to the Chief 
Executive, oversees the Charity’s fundraising activities.  The Trustees have overall 
responsibility and accountability for our fundraising and income generation activities. 

Our Supporter Promise 
This promise outlines the commitment made to our supporters and the public.  We ensure 
that our fundraising is legal, open, honest and respectful. 

 We commit to high standards 
o We will adhere to the Fundraising Code of Practice. 
o We will monitor fundraisers, volunteers and third parties working with us to raise 

funds, to ensure that they comply with the Code of Fundraising Practice and with 
this Promise. 

o We will comply with the law as it applies to charities and fundraising. 
o We will display the Fundraising Regulator badge on our fundraising material to 

show we are committed to good practice. 
 

 We will be clear, honest and open 
o We will tell the truth and we will not exaggerate. 
o We will do what we say we are going to do with donations we receive. 
o We will be clear about who we are and what we do. 
o We will give a clear explanation of how you can make a gift and change a regular 

donation. 
o Where we ask a third party to fundraise on our behalf, we will make this 

relationship and the financial arrangement transparent. 
o We will be able to explain our fundraising costs and show how they are in the best 

interests of our cause if challenged. 
o We will ensure our complaints process is clear and easily accessible. 
o We will provide clear and evidence based reasons for our decisions on complaints. 

 
 We will be respectful 

o We will respect your rights and privacy. 
o We will not put undue pressure on you to make a gift. If you do not want to give or 

wish to cease giving, we will respect your decision. 
o We will have a procedure for dealing with people in vulnerable circumstances and 

it will be available on request. 
o Where the law requires, we will get your consent before we contact you to fundraise. 
o If you tell us that you don’t want us to contact you in a particular way we will not do 

so. We will work with the Telephone, Mail and Fundraising Preference Services to 
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ensure that those who choose not to receive specific types of communication don’t 
have to. 
 

 We will be fair and reasonable 
o We will treat donors and the public fairly, showing sensitivity and adapting our 

approach depending on your needs. 
o We will take care not to use any images or words that intentionally cause distress or 

anxiety. 
o We will take care not to cause nuisance or disruption to the public. 

 
 We will be accountable and responsible 

o We will manage our resources responsibly and consider the impact of our 
fundraising on our donors, supporters and the wider public. 

o If you are unhappy with anything we’ve done whilst fundraising, you can contact 
us to make a complaint. We will listen to feedback and respond appropriately to 
compliments and criticism we receive. 

o We will have a complaints procedure, a copy of which will be available on our 
website or available on request. 

o Our complaints procedure will let you know how to contact the Fundraising 
Regulator in the event that you feel our response is unsatisfactory. 

o We will monitor and record the number of complaints we receive each year and 
share this data with the Fundraising Regulator on request. 

 

Our Fundraising Approach 
 
Our fundraising effort involves  

o encouraging individual civil servants to give regularly to the Charity.  This is one of 
the focuses of our field engagement team who visit civil servants in their 
offices.  This is also an objective of the members of the Strategic engagement team 
building key relationships with the Charity. 

o Our in-house fundraising team also run other fundraising events including 
running prize draws and encouraging civil servants to participate in the Charity’s 
Walking Challenge and to raise money locally as part of Get Yellow Week. 
 

Our role as The Charity for Civil Servants means that the majority of our fundraising 
activities involve serving and former civil servants, their families, and their friends and 
does not involve interaction with the general public. 

We did not use any non-directly employed fundraisers, nor any commercial participators 
to carry out any fundraising activities. 

To support this, and to further our fundraising activities, the Charity uses a variety of 
methods to raise funds: 

 Direct marketing: communicating by email and/or post with existing, former, and 
potential supporters. 

 Face to face: the Charity visits offices and sites operated by the Civil Service to 
promote the Charity and ask for people to become a supporter. 

 3rd Party Events and conferences: the Charity attends events, conferences, and 
functions organised by 3rd parties in order to ask people to become a supporter. 

 Events: the Charity hosts events for current and prospective supporters to hear more 
about the work of the Charity, and how they can support our work financially. 
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 Raffles and lotteries: the Charity runs prize draws throughout the year, licensed by 
the Gambling Commission, to win a cash prize. 

 Legacies: the Charity works with people who choose to support us when they are 
planning their will. 
 

In 2019, the results of our fundraising activities were: 

 Regular giving - 1,704 people pledged to become a regular giver in 2019 (2018: 884).  
As at 31st December 2019, the Charity had 84,832 regular supporters who have 
chosen to support the Charity by making a monthly donation (2018: 90,893), 
donating a total of £4.3m throughout the year (2018: £4.7m) including gift aid. 

 Individual giving - The Charity ran two prize draws in 2019, raising a total of 
£38,090 (2018: £39,939) from ticket sales and donations.  We are grateful to the Civil 
Service Insurance Society (CSIS) for again supporting the Charity's fundraising 
efforts in 2019 by donating the cash prizes for these two draws. 

 Community fundraising - The Charity ran two major community challenges in 
2019: 
o The Walking Challenge saw 4,853 participants (2018: 3,652 participants) 

complete over 1 million miles (2018: 779,260 miles) and raise an impressive 
£60,635 (2018: £52,914) for the Charity. 

o Get Yellow Week raised £2,199 (2018: £2,862). 
Supporters from across the community raised an additional £14,607 through their 
own activities 

 Legacy giving - The Charity was left 12 gifts in wills in 2019 (2018: 16) amounting to 
£278,000 (2018: £283,000). 

   

Fundraising Compliance 
To maintain the highest standards of fundraising ethics and welfare, the Director of 
Strategic Marketing and Income Generation ensures our compliance with the Codes of 
Fundraising Practice (Fundraising Regulator) and DMA Code (Data & Marketing 
Association).  We also have: 
 
 a Data Protection Officer and a Data Steward to ensure we operate in compliance 

with UK legislation around data and privacy. 
 a team of Data Champions across the Charity to ensure we uphold the highest 

standards of data security and compliance. 
 procedures in place to maintain accurate and up-to-date records. 
 a safeguarding group, including a nominated Trustee, who ensure we look after 

vulnerable supporters. 
 

We regularly review and report on our fundraising compliance: 

 We review all our complaints and notifications, with the Directors ensuring 
effective resolution, and the Trustees reviewing our practice to ensure compliance. 

 We actively monitor how we respond to vulnerable supporters, with the Directors 
ensuring effective resolution, and the Trustees reviewing our practice to ensure 
compliance. 

 
All of the Charity’s fundraising activities complied with the Code of Fundraising Practice. 
Our website outlines our complaints policy for the public and clearly explains how an 
individual can complain. In 2019, the Charity received no complaints about its 
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fundraising activities or practices (2018: none), and no complaints were lodged with the 
Fundraising Regulator (2018: none). 
 
The Charity ran internal refresher training around treating donors fairly, using the guide 
provided by the Institute of Fundraising this covered fundraising with people in 
vulnerable circumstances. All staff are aware of the agreed procedures to protect 
vulnerable people, and the Charity has established a safeguarding group to protect the 
people we interact with from harm. 
 
As part of the DMA Fundraising Working Group, The Charity has been involved in 
developing industry best practice on consent, privacy, and data retention. 

Financial Review 
Overview 
In 2019, the Charity recorded net expenditure of £2,546k (2018: £2,227k) in line with its 
agreed approach to draw down from its reserves. 

This is before taking into account the return on the Charity’s investments, which was a 
gain of £4,183k (2018 loss of £2,896k) and the gain on the defined benefit pension 
scheme of £1,492k (2018 loss of £226k). 

Net assets at the year-end were £40.6m, up £3.2m on 2018 (£37.4m). 

Income  
In 2019, total income was £6.1m, down £0.3m. 

The key breakdown of income is shown in the pie-chart below.  

 

The principal source of the Charity’s income remains regular monthly contributions 
from individuals, both serving and retired civil servants.  Together with gift aid, this 
source of income accounted for 70% of the Charity’s total income. At £4.3m, 
contributions are down £0.3m on the previous year, reflecting a net 7% decline in the 
number of regular donors with the average monthly donation remaining at £3.34. 

70%

3%

5%

7%

1.6% 13%

0.4% Income by Source (£ '000s)

Regular contributions from individuals (4,300k)

Contributions from employer organisations (153k)

Legacies (278k)

Donations (436k)

Fundraising events (102k)

Investment Income (814k)

Other income & CSBF Enterprise Limited - profits donated (26k)
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Contributions from employer organisations amounted to £153k (2018: £152k) made up of 
an annual grant from the Cabinet Office of £110k (2017: £110k) and £42k (2017: nil) from 
the Northern Ireland Civil Service. 

Income from legacies, which is highly unpredictable, amounted to £278k in the year 
(2018: £283k). 

Donations totalled £438k, up on 2018 (2018: £396k) included £250k (2018: £250k) from 
the CSIS Charity Fund and a one-off donation of £120k from the North West Customs and 
Excise Benevolent Society which closed and its trustees donated the closing funds to the 
Charity. 

Income from investments was £0.8m (2018: £0.8m), reflecting interest and dividends 
from the Charity’s multi-asset investment portfolio managed by Barings Asset 
Management. 

Expenditure 
Total expenditure for the year is £8.7m (2018: £8.6m) with £7.1m being spent on 
charitable activities.  

Costs of raising funds were £1.5m (2018: £1.7m) and included elements of staff costs, 
investment management fees and overheads. 

Total staff costs of £4.3m (2018 £4.2m) were included within direct activities and support 
costs.  The average number of staff (on a full-time equivalent basis) in 2019 was 100 (2018: 
95). 

The Charity withdrew £3.5m in the year (2018: £3.5m) from its investment portfolio to 
fund its expenditure in line with its plan to use its reserves to support civil servants. 

Investments 
The Charity’s powers of investment are set out in the Memorandum & Articles of 
Association.  The Board of Trustees has delegated authority to manage the Charity’s 
portfolio of investments to the Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees. 

The investment portfolio is managed by Barings Asset Management Limited (“Barings”).  
The manager’s performance is monitored quarterly against various indices.  The 
Northern Trust Company undertakes custodian functions for the portfolio.  Movements 
in the Charity’s holdings of investments during the year and an analysis of the portfolio 
at year-end are shown in note 10a to the Accounts.   

Barings operate under a mandate which seeks to optimise the portfolio’s returns while 
controlling risk.  Risk is spread by investing across a broad range of business sectors and 
markets throughout the world.  The agreement signed with Barings in 2016 sets an 
investment objective to achieve a net return of RPI plus 3.5% p.a. over rolling three-year 
periods with the aim of delivering returns equivalent to long-term equity returns within 
70% of realised equity volatility, over a medium to long term time horizon.  Barings have 
discretion as to asset allocation within agreed ranges for each asset class, whilst stock 
selection is accomplished by using a combination of tracker and active funds.  The net 
return for the three years to 31 December 2019 was 4.9% (three years to 31 December 2018: 
net 3.3%) compared with a benchmark of 6.8%.  The net return in 2019 was +13.9% (2018: 
net–5.5%).  The one-year return reflects the strong recovery in markets in the first quarter 
of 2019 following sharp falls in the final quarter of 2018. 
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Since the balance sheet date of 31 December 2019, there have been levels of volatility in 
world stock markets that have resulted in a material change in the valuation Charity’s 
investments. This was mainly due to concerns about the current and potential impact on 
the global economy of the coronavirus outbreak.  The MSCI World Index (hedged to 
sterling) fell 20.41% in the three months to 31 March and the UK equity index fell 28.59% 
over the same period.  The Charity’s portfolio declined in value by 15.33% over this period 
and was valued at £32.1m million at 31 March, down from £39.1 million on 31 December 
2019. We anticipate that market volatility will continue until there is greater certainty 
about the longer-term impact of these issues. 

The Charity has selected an Investment Manager to manage its assets in accordance with 
its agreed asset allocation.  The Investment Manager’s approach is to invest primarily in 
existing pooled funds some of which track indices rather than select individual stocks.  
As a result, the Charity does not directly exclude underlying stocks on the grounds of 
social, environmental and other ethical grounds. 

From time to time, the investment managers of underlying funds provide the Trustees 
with details of their corporate governance statements including their voting policies and 
a record of their engagement activities with companies.  The Investment Committee 
reviews their policies periodically. 

Reserves 
The Trustees are mindful of their duty to balance the interests of both current and future 
beneficiaries.  The holding of reserves is one of a range of measures that can contribute 
to stability and continuity of the Charity into the future to support future beneficiaries.  
The Trustees determine the need for reserves by reference to a number of factors which 
they keep under regular review, including the time needed to reverse the recent declines 
in regular giving from individuals and the extent to which the remainder of the Charity’s 
income depends on a small number of large donations and grants.  It also considers 
fluctuations in beneficiary expenditure and future levels of demand for the help and 
services provided by the Charity.  Based on its current analysis, the Trustees feel that the 
Charity should retain reserves of between £30m and £35m. 
 
Of our total charity funds of £40.6m, total unrestricted funds were £40.5m at 31 
December 2019.  In assessing our level of free reserves, we exclude the fixed assets of 
£0.8m as these assets cannot be quickly disposed of.  This leaves free reserves of £39.7m 
which is above the required level of £30m to £35m.  The Trustees expect reserves to decline 
over the next five years as we develop the Charity’s services to help more people in line 
with the strategy that was developed in 2015. Restricted reserves – which are not taken 
into account in formulating our reserves policy - were £0.1m as at 31 December 2019, 
details of which are set out in note 14 to the accounts. 
 
As set out above, the value of the Charity’s investments has fallen since the year-end.  
Based on an investment value of £32.1m, the Charity would have free reserves at 31 March 
2020 of £32.7m.  This would still be within the target range of £30m to £35m. 
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Going Concern 
The Trustees have assessed the Charity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  This 
assessment was revisited at the Board meeting on 3 April in light of the changed 
circumstances taking into account the impacts from the coronavirus outbreak. The 
Trustees have considered several factors when forming their conclusion as to whether 
the use of the going concern basis is appropriate when preparing these financial 
statements including a review of updated forecasts to the end of 2021, a consideration of 
key risks, including the impact of coronavirus, that could negatively impact the charity 
and the latest available valuation of the investment portfolio.   

The Covid-19 pandemic has not had a significant impact on the Charity’s finances.  The 
Charity’s principal source of income is regular monthly contributions from individuals, 
both serving and retired civil servants. This represents approximately 70% of the 
Charity’s income. As reported in the financial review, contributions in 2019 reflected a 
net 7% decline and this trend has continued to be modelled in the revised forecasts. In the 
current environment, forecasts for other income and expenditure have been reviewed 
and it is assumed the ability to run fundraising events will be limited, although this 
represents on average less than 2% of the Charity’s income. The key area of uncertainty 
relates to the impact of the current market turmoil on the valuation of investments. The 
original budget incorporated a planned draw down on investments to ensure sufficient 
working capital at all times. This continues to be the planned approach and is 
accommodated within the revised forecasts and sensitivities.   

After considering these factors, the Trustees have concluded that the Charity has a 
reasonable expectation that there are adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future and have continued to prepare the financial 
statements on the going concern basis. 

Pensions 
The Charity participates in a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme, The CSBF 
Pension & Assurance Scheme, which was closed to future accrual in 2004.  The Charity 
accounts for its 92.9% share of the net assets and liabilities of the multi-employer pension 
scheme which is recognised on the Charity’s balance sheet. More details about pensions 
is set out in note 16 to the accounts.    

Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
Risk is considered in key decision processes in the Charity at Executive and Board level.  
The Board reviews the major risks faced by the Charity at least annually after a more 
detailed discussion at the Finance and Audit Committee.  The review includes reviewing 
the adequacy of the actions being taken in response to each risk. 

The Board is satisfied that the major risks facing the Charity have been identified and are 
being appropriately addressed.  This includes the Board’s assessment of the impact of 
coronavirus on its risk assessment. The key risk for the Charity arising from coronavirus 
is considered to be the financial risk for the Charity arising from a significant loss in the 
value of its investments which is detailed below. Overall the Board considers that the key 
risks currently facing the Charity are as follows: 

 The Charity has seen a decline in the number of regular donors over the last decade 
and income from regular donations has fallen over the same period.  If this decline 
in regular income is not reversed or other sources of income found, this could 
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threaten the longer term future of the Charity and its ability to help civil servants.   
Plans to address this issue include focused interaction with major Civil Service 
departments to drive employee engagement with the Charity and campaigns that 
will increase the Charity’s perceived relevance and also drive engagement.  By 
building deeper stronger relationships with its community, the Charity’s 
understanding of how best to give more help and support will improve, which will 
in turn mean that more people will see the difference the Charity makes and 
support the Charity. The Board is conscious that these efforts will take time to pay 
off and trends in income will take a while to reverse. Whilst the above risk has had 
some impact on the Charity’s net income, the Charity currently remains in a 
strong financial position. 
 

 The Charity is reliant on its systems to run its operations and these need to be kept 
up to date.  We are also seeking to improve the help we can provide to people by 
automating transactional processes and providing digital self-help or referrals 
where appropriate to release staff time for more engagement with people who are 
struggling or need follow-up.  Failing to automate and/or digitise in a timely 
fashion would present issues for the Charity’s operation and continue to impact 
on our efficiency and turnaround times.  Consequently, systems improvements 
and upgrades will be an increasing focus in 2020. 
 
 

 A key financial risk for the Charity is a significant loss in value of its investment 
portfolio.  The Charity is a long-term investor with a significant portfolio and is 
able to sustain short-term market fluctuations.  As set out above, the Charity’s 
investments are managed by professional managers and the Charity has access to 
further independent investment advisers.  The portfolio is diversified both in 
terms of asset classes and geographically.  The target that has been set for the 
managers is to deliver long-term equity returns within 70% of realised equity 
volatility and this target has been met historically. The performance of the 
managers and the asset allocation is reviewed by the Investment Committee 
quarterly. 

Remuneration 
Remuneration Policy 
Our approach to pay at The Charity  

The Charity had 108 staff as at 31 December 2019, which equates to 99.4 full-time 
equivalent employees. Salaries and total reward for the Senior Management Team – the 
Chief Executive and the three other directors responsible for Finance & Corporate 
Services, Help & Advisory Services and Strategic Marketing & Income Generation – are set 
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, a sub-committee of our Board of Trustees. 

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by the Charity’s chair and includes other 
members of the Board, who offer pay expertise in the Not for Profit and other sectors. 

All other staff salaries are set by the Senior Management Team.  Salaries are arranged in 
pay bands across the Charity, using external independent benchmarking and comparison 
data within the Charity and Not for Profit sectors, and taking into account affordability 
at the Charity.  Salaries are clearly advertised when recruiting for new roles. At the 
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Charity, we believe in recruiting and retaining high-calibre people to represent the 
organisation’s interests.  We also believe in rewarding staff fairly for the jobs that they 
do and providing a single streamlined salary and grading framework for all staff, which 
is equitable and consistent with the principle of equal pay for work of equal value.  We 
believe this engenders a positive working environment. Additionally, we believe in 
encouraging young people to enter the workplace to increase their skills and establish 
their careers.  We provide apprenticeships in some specialist areas and ensure that people 
in these roles are rewarded fairly for their work with pay and benefits. 

The Charity works hard to retain staff who have been recruited for the specific skills that 
they bring to their particular role.  Pay and reward are determined to ensure that we can 
recruit people with the right skills in a competitive market.  Many of our staff have 
detailed knowledge, some of which is unique to the Charity and could not be easily 
replaced. Our staff pay scales and total reward package reflects our commitment to 
retaining and motivating our staff. 

Senior Management Pay  

The Charity’s purpose and vision means that the Chief Executive and other members of 
the Senior Management Team require a breadth of experience, skills and personal 
qualities on a par with high-quality senior-level talent in similar organisations and so the 
Charity needs to be competitive in the market.  They need to be able to liaise and 
command the respect of senior civil servants and executives of other partnership 
charities of all sizes through their experience and credibility.  At the Charity, we are able 
to retain this talent whilst keeping salary costs under control. 

For the purposes of disclosures under the Charities SORP (FRS 102), senior management 
is defined as the Chief Executive Officer and the other three directors responsible for 
Finance & Corporate Services, Help & Advisory Services and Strategic Marketing & Income 
Generation. 

Benchmarking 

The Senior Management Team’s salaries are externally benchmarked every 3 years and 
staff pay levels are reviewed annually. 

Each year, the Chief Executive and directors participate in performance appraisal as part 
of the appraisal scheme operated for all of the Charity’s staff.   In the case of the Chief 
Executive, this includes seeking detailed feedback from the Chair, Trustees, and direct 
reports. 

Staff pay is reviewed by the Senior Management Team and communicated to the 
Charity’s recognised union, PCS.  The same benefits, apart from annual leave allowance, 
including pensions and terms and conditions, apply to the Chief Executive and directors, 
as all other staff. 

While they are separately determined, annual pay increases for the Chief Executive, 
directors and staff have been aligned for the three years leading up to 2019.  In 2019, a 
2.0% pay increase was awarded to both the senior management team and staff. 

 

 



THE CHARITY FOR CIVIL SERVANTS 
TRUSTEES’ ANNUAL REPORT 2019 

 

23 
 

Living Wage Foundation 

The Charity continued its commitment to paying all staff the London Living Wage, 
calculated independently by the Living Wage Foundation. Being a Living Wage accredited 
employer also means paying the same basic wage to all of its contractors that fit the 
criteria of working on site for a specified number of hours per week.  Although the 
Charity already pays its staff in excess of the London Living Wage, there was an increased 
cost to the Charity for its subcontracted/outsourced cleaning contractors.   

Gender Pay Reporting 

As the Charity employs fewer than 250 employees, it is not required to publish 
information on Gender Pay Reporting.  Nevertheless, as recommended by the NCVO, the 
Trustees requested information on gender pay differences to be collated and we are 
providing this information as part of a commitment to transparency and accountability. 

The data below relates to January to December 2019: 

Gender Number of 
staff 

FTE 
Salary 

Differential FTE 
Salary 

Differential 

  Mean (£) (%) Median (£) (%) 
Male 35 £37,893  

£924 
 

2.4% 
£28,565  

£-5494 
 
-19.2% Female 73 £36,969 £34,059 

 

This is in comparison to last year’s data (as at 31st December 2018): 

Gender Number of 
staff 

FTE 
Salary 

Differential FTE 
Salary 

Differential 

  Mean (£) (%) Median (£) (%) 
Male 30 £35,019  

-£737 
 

-2% 
£33,064  

£319 
 
0.9% Female 72 £35,756 £32,745 

 

Percentage Gender per Quartile Salary Range (1 = highest paid quartile) 

Salary Quartile Male Female 
1 29.7% 70.3% 

2 25.9% 74.1% 

3 25.9% 74.1% 

4 48.1% 51.9% 

Overall 32.4% 67.6% 
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Plans for the Future  
 

 

 

Service Evolution 
We will continue to review the patterns of need emerging as a consequence of the 
ongoing Covid-19 pandemic situation, but the Charity will still aim to:   

 Pilot caring conversations to ensure we develop caring support. 
 Continue our regional team development in delivering webinars and web content 

alongside complex casework. 
 Work closely with other charities to develop and share best practice, actively 

working with the Association of Charitable Organisations. 
 Contribute to the programme of digital transformation to achieve a more 

customer-friendly and intuitive journey through different service offers. 
 Keep updating policy to reflect new areas and trends of need. 
 Monitor our services using standard evaluation measures inform development 

and delivery. 
 Work closely with Departments directly (such as Civil Service Employee Policy - 

CSEP) and through insight from our Strategic Engagement Team. 

Engagement and Sustainability 

The Charity will be looking to focus its efforts in three areas. Having reflected on the 
ongoing impact of Covid-19, we still believe that these are the key strategic priorities: 

1. Reverse the decline in regular giving. Whilst this is a long-term project, 2020 will see 
specific activities including: 

 Launching a campaign encouraging existing supporters to sign up to automatic 
annual uplift of the value of their donation. 

 A programme to ensure all new-starters joining the Civil Service are given the 
option to enrol as regular donors to the Charity. 

 Improving our engagement with recently lapsed supporters. 
 

2. Improving our structural engagement across the Civil Service: 
 Launching a new engagement programme across Departments at strategic and 

operational levels. 
 Further growing our relationship with the Cabinet Office through our 

partnership with CSEP. 
 Grow our volunteer network across the Civil Service so we can better support 

our charitable mission. 
 

3. The Charity has decided to continue its approach to issues-based campaigns.  This is 
because it is based on evidence of need within our community.  The top three issues 
that matter are still mental health, financial hardship, and caring, and so the Charity 
will use the same topics for 2020 activity. 

“Helping people to overcome life’s 
challenges and thrive” 
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Trustees’ Administrative Report 

Structure and Governance 
Constitution and Membership 
The Civil Service Benevolent Fund (“The Charity”) was incorporated on 16th June 2010 as 
a company limited by guarantee (company no. 7286399).  In May 2012, the company 
began operating under the name “The Charity for Civil Servants”.  The Charity is 
registered with the Charity Commission in England and Wales (no. 1136870) and is on the 
Scottish Charity Register (no.  SC041956).  The Charity carries out its activities from its 
principal office, No. 5 Anne Boleyn’s Walk, Cheam, Surrey, SM3 8DY, which is also its 
registered office. 

The governing instrument of the Charity is the Articles of Association, which were 
adopted on 16th June 2010.  The Charity’s Patron is Her Majesty the Queen; its president is 
Sir Mark Sedwill (Cabinet Secretary and Head of the Civil Service). 

The Charity has one subsidiary, CSBF Enterprises Limited (registered in England and 
Wales: company number 03119311).  More detail is given in Note 10 (b) to the accounts. 

Trustees and Advisors 
The Charity is governed by a Trustee Board of between 8 and 12 Trustees.  Under the 
Charity’s Articles of Association, one Trustee shall be appointed by the Cabinet Office and 
that Trustee will be the Chair.  Other Trustees are appointed by resolution of the Trustees 
at the Annual General Meeting.  The Board is currently comprised of 11 Trustees.  

The following Trustees served as members of the Board throughout 2019 and were 
Trustees on the date this report was approved:   

 Mark Addison CB (Vice-Chair) 
 Jonathan Russell CB 
 Deborah Loudon 
 Wendy Proctor  
 Selvin Brown MBE 
 Ross Campbell FCA (Treasurer) 
 Mal Singh 

The following Trustees retired during 2019: 

 Sue Owen CB (Chair) – 23rd April 2019 
 Vivienne Dews (Treasurer) – 12th July 2019 
 Barry Burton CB – 12th July 2019 
 Mary Aiston CB – 12th July 2019 
 Kevin Sadler CBE – 12th July 2019 

The following Trustees were appointed during 2019: 
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 Peter Schofield CB (Chair) – 23rd April 2019 
 Joanna Dally – 12th July 2019 
 James Renwick – 12th July 2019 
 Clara Lane – 12th July 2019 

No Trustees had any disclosable interests under the Companies Act 2006. 

Trustees are responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, 
including the skills, knowledge and experience required.  Trustees seek to identify 
candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise and open advertising or the 
services of external advisers are always considered to facilitate the search for suitable 
candidates.  Trustees are appointed for an initial term of up to three years, in order to 
provide for an orderly succession, and are eligible to serve a second term, up to a 
maximum of six years.  Trustees receive individual induction sessions, as well as being 
provided with relevant background information and training to help familiarise them 
with their responsibilities. 

The Trustee Board meets a minimum of three times a year and takes all important 
strategic, policy and financial decisions.  It met four times in 2019.  The Board is 
supported by a number of sub-committees and advisory groups.   

Sub-committee and advisory group membership as at 31st December 2019 is set out below 
(* denotes chair of each committee, † denotes co-opted member): 

Nominations 
Committee 
& Remuneration 
Committee 
 

Investment 
Committee 

Finance & Audit 
Committee 

Strategic 
Steering Group 

Peter Schofield * Mark Addison * Ross Campbell * Jonathan Russell 
Ross Campbell Ross Campbell Mark Addison Wendy Proctor 
Deborah Loudon 
Wendy Proctor 
Jonathan Russell 
 

Clara Lane 
Chris Jones † 
Alex Reeves† 

Mal Singh 
Joanna Dally 

Selvin Brown 
James Renwick 

Day-to-day management of the Charity is delegated to the Chief Executive, Graham 
Hooper, and other directors responsible for Finance & Corporate Services, Help & 
Advisory Services, and Strategic Marketing & Income Generation.  An appropriate 
director or the assistant company secretary acts as secretary to each of the Board sub-
committees and advisory committees, except for the Nominations Committee & 
Remuneration Committee for which the Charity’s HR and Training Manager is secretary. 

The key advisers to the Charity are: 

Auditor:     Bankers: 

Crowe U.K. LLP    Lloyds TSB Bank plc 

St Bride's House     1 Butler Place 

10 Salisbury Square     Victoria Street 

London EC4Y 8EH     London SW1H 0PR 
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Investment Managers:    Solicitors: 

Baring Asset Management Limited  Stone King LLP  

20 Old Bailey     Boundary House - 91 Charterhouse Street 

London EC4M 7BF    London EC1M 6HR    

Trustee Responsibilities 
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report (which comprises the 
Trustees’ Administrative Report and the Trustees’ Strategic Report) and the accounts in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.  Charity law requires the Trustees to 
prepare financial statements for each financial year in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards) and 
applicable law.  Under company law the Trustees must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the charitable company and of its net incoming resources for that period.  In 
preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to: 

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 Make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  
 State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 

to presume that the company will continue in business. 
 

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the charitable company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Charity and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.   

Insofar as each of the Trustees of the charitable company at the date of approval of this 
report is aware there is no relevant audit information (information needed by the 
company’s auditor in connection with preparing the audit report) of which the 
company’s auditor is unaware.  Each Trustee has taken all of the steps that he/she should 
have taken as a Trustee in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.   

Charity Governance Code 
The Charity’s Trustees acknowledge that The Charity for Civil Servants is best placed to 
fulfil its vision, mission and strategic goals if it has effective governance in place.  The 
Charity continues to utilise the Charity Governance Code as a tool to support the Board to 
reflect upon its governance structures and consider the most appropriate ways to adopt 
the Code’s principles and recommended practices.  Trustees also continue to uphold their 
legal responsibilities and recognise that behaviour and culture are integral, both in 
supporting the Charity to deliver its objects most effectively for its beneficiaries’ benefit, 
and in achieving good governance. 
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During 2019, numerous pieces of work were undertaken to reflect the Charity’s 
commitment to good governance.  The most significant pieces of work included a review 
of all the Charity’s Terms of Reference, the development of a Scheme of Delegation and 
the adoption of a Trustee Code of Conduct, which has been agreed by the Board and signed 
by all of the Charity’s Trustees.  The Charity also took the opportunity to review the 
organisation’s charitable objects to make sure the Charity, and its objects, stay relevant 
and valid.  After receiving prior consent from the Charity Commission, appropriate 
amendments have been made to the Charity’s objects and articles and all the necessary 
documentation has been filed with the Charity Commission and Companies House. 
 
The Charity and its Trustees remain committed to improving the Charity’s governance 
standards and increasing its overall effectiveness as an organisation and will consider 
the ways in which the Charity can further adopt and strengthen the Code’s recommended 
practices over the next 12 months. 
 
This Annual Report, which incorporates the Trustees’ Strategic Report and 
Administrative Report, was approved by the Trustees on the 28 April 2020, and signed on 
their behalf by: 

 

 

 

Peter Schofield CB 

Chair, Board of Trustees 

28 April 2020 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustees and 
Members of The Charity for Civil Servants 

OPINION 

We have audited the financial statements of The Charity for Civil Servants for the year 
ended 31 December 2019, which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the 
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s affairs as at 
31 December 2019 and of its incoming resources and application of resources, 
including its income and expenditure for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and Regulation 
8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the charitable company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which 
the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 

 the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the charitable company’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of 
at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue. 
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OTHER INFORMATION 

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit  

 the information given in the trustees’ report, which includes the directors’ 
report and the strategic report prepared for the purposes of company law, for 
the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements; and 

 the strategic report and the directors’ report included within the trustees’ 
report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report included within the 
trustees’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 require 
us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

 certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF TRUSTEES 

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 27, 
the trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of 
company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the 
charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report in 
accordance with the Acts and relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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USE OF OUR REPORT 

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, and to the charitable 
company’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with Regulation 10 of the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the charitable company’s members and trustees those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the charitable company, the charitable company’s members as a body and the 
charitable company’s trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Nicola May 

Senior Statutory Auditor 

For and on behalf of 

Crowe U.K. LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

London 

 

Date 
Crowe U.K LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006. 

5 May 2020

mayn
Stamp
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Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted 

Funds 

2019 
Total  

Funds   

2018 
Total 

Funds 
Income from Note £000 £000 £000 £000 
         

Donations and legacies 2 5,269  2  5,271  5,507 

Other income  24  -  24  38 

Investment Income 3 814  -  814  840 

Total income  6,107  2  6,109  6,385 

 

Expenditure on 
        

Raising funds 
        

Fundraising & Engagement 
 

1,389 
 

 
 1,389  

1,567 

Investment management 
 

130    130  135 

Total costs of raising funds 
 

1,519  -  1,519  1,702 

Charitable activities 
        

 Alleviating need 
 

7,070  64  7,134  6,910 

Total charitable expenditure  7,070  64  7,134  6,910 

Total expenditure 4 8,589  64  8,653  8,612 

Net (expenditure)/income for the year  (2,482)  (62)  (2,544)  (2,227) 

Net gain/(loss) on investments 10a 4,183  -  4,183  (2,896) 

Actuarial  gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension 
scheme 

16 1,492  -  1,492  (226) 

Net movement in funds for the year  3,193  (62)  3,131  (5,349) 

         

Reconciliation of funds         

Funds brought forward at 1 January   37,306  117  37,423  42,772 

Funds carried forward at 31 December   40,499  55  40,554  37,423 

 
The statement of financial activities incorporates an income and expenditure account. 
 
The notes on pages 36 to 55 form an integral part of these Accounts 
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2019 

 
2018  

  Total  Total 
     

  Note £000  £000 

Fixed assets     
Intangible assets 8 46  50 
Tangible assets 9 743  780 
Investment assets 10a 39,099  37,624 

Total fixed assets  39,888  38,454 

     
Current assets     
Debtors  11 754  762 
Cash at bank and in hand  500  545 

Total current assets  1,254  1,307 

     
Liabilities     
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 12 (588)  (547) 

Net current assets   666  760 

Total assets less current liabilities  40,554  39,214 

Net assets excluding pension liability  40,554  39,214 

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme liability 16 -  (1,791) 

Total net assets  40,554  37,423 

     
The funds of the Charity:     
     
Unrestricted funds  14 40,132  38,730 
Revaluation reserve 9 367  367 
Pension (deficit) 16 -  (1,791) 

Total unrestricted funds   40,499  37,306 
Restricted income funds 14 55  117 

Total charity funds  40,554  37,423 

 
Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustees on 28 April 2020 and signed on their behalf by: 

 
Chair: 
 
 
 
Peter Schofield                                

 

 
The notes on pages 36 to 55 form an integral part of these accounts 
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 Note  2019  2018 
Cash flows from operating activities:   £000  £000 

Net cash used in operating activities 
 

A  (2,913)  (2,821) 

Cash flows from investing activities:      

Investment income 3  814  840 
Investment income reinvested 3  (792)  (840) 
Purchase of intangible assets 8  (21)  (51) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9  (11)  (15) 
Payments to pension fund 16  (622)  (609) 
Disposal of investments 10a  3,500  3,500 
Net cash provided by investing activities 
 

  
2,868  2,825 

Change  in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting 
period 

  
(45)  4 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period 

  
545  541 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period 

B  
500  545 

      

Notes to the cash flow statement      
      

A. Reconciliation of net income/expenditure to net 
cash flow from operating activities 

  2019 
£000 

 2018 
£000 

 
Net income  / (expenditure) for the reporting period (as 
per the statement of financial activities) 

  
3,131  (5,349) 

Adjustments for:      

(Gain)/loss on investments 10a  (4,183)  2,896 

Depreciation & amortisation charges 8 & 9  73  63 

Investment income 3  (814)  (840) 

Decrease/(Increase) in debtors 11  8  (61) 

Increase/(Decrease) in creditors 12  39  (24) 

Net pension scheme expenses 16  325  268 

Pension scheme (gain)/loss 16  (1,492)  226 

Net cash used in operating activities   (2,913)  (2,821) 

      

      

B.  Analysis of cash and cash equivalents   2019 
£000 

 
2018 

£000 

Cash in hand   500  545 

Total cash and cash equivalents   500  545 

The notes on pages 36 to 55 form an integral part of these Accounts 
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1. Accounting policies 
 
Status of the Charity 
The Charity was incorporated in England and Wales on 16th June 2010 (company 
number 7286399) and is limited by guarantee of its members.  The guarantee of each 
member is restricted to £1 sterling.  The address of the registered office is No. 5 Anne 
Boleyn’s Walk, Cheam, Surrey, SM3 8DY.   
 
The Charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. It is 
registered in England and Wales (charity number: 1136870) and in Scotland (charity 
number: SC041956). 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - 
(Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.  The financial statements 
are drawn up under the historical cost convention except that the freehold property 
was valued as at 30 June 2000 and investments are carried at market value.   
 
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling which is also the functional 
currency of the Charity. 
 
The Charity has one wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, CSBF Enterprises Limited 
(company number 03119311).  This is not consolidated on the basis that the amounts 
in the subsidiary are immaterial in the context of the Charity.   
 
Going concern 
 
The Trustees have assessed the Charity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  This 
assessment was revisited at the Board meeting on 3 April in light of the changed 
circumstances taking into account the impacts from the coronavirus outbreak. The 
Trustees have considered several factors when forming their conclusion as to whether 
the use of the going concern basis is appropriate when preparing these financial 
statements including a review of updated forecasts to the end of 2021, a consideration 
of key risks, including the impact of coronavirus, that could negatively impact the 
charity and the latest available valuation of the investment portfolio.   
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has not had a significant impact on the Charity’s finances.  The 
Charity’s principal source of income is regular monthly contributions from 
individuals, both serving and retired civil servants. This represents approximately 
70% of the Charity’s income. As reported in the financial review, contributions in 2019 
reflected a net 7% decline and this trend has continued to be modelled in the revised 
forecasts. In the current environment, forecasts for other income and expenditure 
have been reviewed and it is assumed the ability to run fundraising events will be 
limited, although this represents on average less than 2% of the Charity’s income. The 
key area of uncertainty relates to the impact of the current market turmoil on the 
valuation of investments. The original budget incorporated a planned draw down on 
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investments to ensure sufficient working capital at all times. This continues to be the 
planned approach and is accommodated within the revised forecasts and sensitivities.   
 
After considering these factors, the Trustees have concluded that the Charity has a 
reasonable expectation that there are adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future and have continued to prepare the financial 
statements on the going concern basis.  

 
Income 
Income is recognised when a transaction or other event results in an increase in the 
Charity’s assets or a reduction in its liabilities.  Income is recognised in the accounts 
of the Charity when all of the following criteria are met: 
 Entitlement – control over the rights or other access to the economic benefit has 

passed to the Charity. 
 Probability – it is more likely than not that the economic benefits associated with 

the transaction or gift will flow to the Charity. 
 Measurement – the monetary value or amount of the income can be measured 

reliably and the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the 
transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
Contributions, and any related recoverable tax, are accounted for when they are due.  
Donations are accounted for when received.  Pecuniary legacies are recorded as 
income when notified; residuary legacies are recorded when the Charity is legally 
entitled to the income, receipt is probable and the amounts can be reasonably 
quantified.  Income from investments is accounted for when distributions are 
notified by the investment managers. 
 
Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT 
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to commit 
the Charity to expenditure as a result of a past event, it is probable that settlement will 
be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. 
 
Grants payable are accounted for when approved by the Charity and notified to 
beneficiaries.  All other expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis.   
 
Governance costs represent expenditure on strategic planning for the Charity’s 
future development, internal and external audit, legal advice to trustees and costs 
associated with constitutional and statutory requirements including the cost of 
Board meetings and preparing statutory accounts.   
 
Costs which cannot be directly attributed to individual activities reflected on the 
Statement of Financial Activities are allocated on a basis consistent with the use of 
resources, being the relevant proportions of either staff costs, time spent or assets 
utilised.   
 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for which the expenditure 
was incurred 
 
Allocation of support costs 
Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the Charity but do not directly 
undertake charitable activities.  Support costs include central management and office 
costs, finance, personnel, information technology, defined benefit pension scheme 
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expenses and governance costs which support the Charity’s activities.  These costs 
have been allocated between cost of raising funds and expenditure on charitable 
activities.  
 
Tangible fixed assets  
Tangible fixed assets costing more than £1,000 are capitalised.  All fixed assets are 
recorded at cost, except the freehold property which was re-valued as at 30 June 2000 
and is recorded at this value, and are depreciated at rates to write off the excess of the 
cost or valuation over the anticipated residual value of individual assets evenly over 
their estimated useful lives.  These rates are currently as follows: 
 

Freehold building and property improvements 2-3% p.a. on valuation and cost 

Fixtures, fittings & office equipment 15% p.a. on cost 

Other computer hardware & software 
purchased before 1 January 2017 

33% p.a. on cost 

 
 
Intangible fixed assets 
Intangible fixed assets are non-monetary fixed assets that do not have physical 
substance but are identifiable and are controlled by the Charity through custody or 
legal rights.  An intangible asset is recognised when it is separable or arises from 
contractual or other legal rights and if it is probable that its expected future economic 
benefits will flow to the Charity, and if its cost or value can be measured reliably. 
Intangible fixed assets costing more than £2,000 are capitalised. 
 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently at cost less 
impairment and less any accumulated amortisation. The residual value of intangible 
fixed assets is nil when calculating the charge for amortisation unless reliable 
evidence exists to the contrary.  Amortisation of intangible fixed assets is charged as 
an expense to the relevant statement of financial activities (SoFA) category reflecting 
the use of the asset. 
 
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic 
lives. If the useful life cannot be estimated reliably it is presumed to be no more than 
five years. Amortisation commences on development expenditure when an intangible 
asset is available for use.  
 
The amortisation rates used are as follows: 
Software and website costs: 33⅓ % per annum 
 
Intangible assets are only reviewed for impairment if there are indicators that the 
asset may be impaired. 
 
Investment assets 
Investments are measured initially at cost and valued in the balance sheet at fair value 
(their market value) at the balance sheet date. Investment net gains and losses, 
whether realised or unrealised, are combined and shown in the heading ‘Net 
gains/(losses) on investments’ in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
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Pensions 
Employer costs relating to the defined contribution pension scheme are included as 
expenditure when they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.  
 
The Charity also contributes to a defined benefit pension scheme, which was closed 
in 2004 to future benefit accrual.  The current service costs of the scheme, together 
with the scheme interest cost less the expected return on the scheme assets for the 
year, are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities.  The actuarial gains and 
losses on the scheme are recognised immediately as other recognised gains and 
losses.   
 
The assets of the scheme are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date.  
Liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis at the balance sheet date using the 
projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return 
on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme liabilities.  The 
resulting defined benefit asset or liability is presented separately after other net 
assets on the face of the balance sheet.   
 
 
Financial instruments 
The Charity has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic 
financial instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Financial assets held 
at amortised cost comprise cash and bank and in hand, short term cash deposits 
together with debtors excluding prepayments. Financial liabilities held at amortised 
cost comprise short and long term creditors excluding deferred income and taxation 
payable. No discounting has been applied to these financial instruments on the basis 
that the periods over which amounts will be settled are such that any discounting 
would be immaterial. 
  
Investments, including bonds and cash held as part of the investment portfolio are 
held at fair value at the balance sheet date, with gains and losses being recognised 
within income and expenditure. Investments in subsidiary undertakings are held at 
cost less impairment. 
 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the accounting policies, trustees are required to make 
judgements, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affected current and future periods. 
  
The only significant source of uncertainty in our estimations that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is the defined benefit 
pension scheme. Further details, including assumptions used, are disclosed in Note 16. 
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2. Income from donations and legacies 
  2019  2018 
  £000  £000 

Regular contributions from individuals  4,300  4,573 

Contributions from employer organisations  153  152 

Legacies  278  283 

Donations  436  396 

CSBF Enterprise Limited-profits donated  2  0 

Fundraising events  102  103 

  5,271  5,507 

 
 
 
 
3. Investment income 

 2019  2018 
 £000  £000 
Interest receivable 2  1 

Change in accrued investment income  20  (1) 

Interest from Baring Asset Management portfolio re-invested 459  236 

Dividends from Baring Asset Management portfolio re-invested 333  604 

 814  840 

 
4. Expenditure 

       

 Financial 
Support 

 (Note 4a) 

Direct 
Activities 

 

Support 
 costs 

(Note 4b) 

2019 
Total 

 2018 
Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 

Costs of raising funds       

Fundraising & engagement - 870 519 1,389  1,567 

Investment costs - 130 - 130  135 

 - 1,000 519 1,519  1,702 

Charitable activities       

Alleviating need 1,973 3,096 2,065 7,134  6,910 

Total expenditure at 2019 1,973 4,096 2,584 8,653  8,612 

Total expenditure at 2018 2,219 4,033 2,360 8,612   
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(a) Analysis of financial support* 
 

2019 
One-off 

2019 
Ongoing 

2019 
Total  

2018 
One-off 

2018 
Ongoing 

2018 
Total  

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
to help in the following circumstances:        

- bereavement 186 - 186 189 - 189 
- caring 8 - 8 2 - 2 
- disability 111 - 111 214 - 214 
- domestic abuse 55 - 55 37 - 37 
- emergency situation 30 - 30 41 - 41 
- ill health 294 101 395 330 109 439 
- poor wellbeing 153 - 153 108 - 108 
- reduced or low income 772 5 777 910 6 916 
- relationship breakdown 195 - 195 227 - 227 
- unstable/unsafe living arrangements 30 - 30 37 - 37 
- community projects 33 - 33 9 - 9 
 1,867 106 1,973 2,105 115 2,219 

 
There were no repayable grants (2018: none) agreed during the year. The total 
outstanding at 31 December is shown in Note 11 to the Accounts. 
 
 
 
(b) Analysis of support costs 
 

         2019 2018 

 Management Governance 
DB 

Pension 
Scheme 

Finance 
H.R & 

Training 
Insight & 
Analysis 

IT & 
Systems   

Central 
Services Total Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Costs of 
raising funds           

Fundraising & 
engagement 144 8 65 45 65 49 80 63 519 975 

Charitable 
activities           

Alleviating 
need 576 32 260 181 259 198 307 252 2,065 1,385 

In 2019  720 40 325 226 324 247 387 315 2,584 2,360 

In 2018  636 49 268 208 256 228 407 308 2,360  
 

Allocation is based on the use of resources, being the relevant proportions of staff costs, time spent and 
assets utilised.   
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(c) Analysis of governance costs 2019 2018 

  £000 £000 
Board of Trustees expenses  2 1 
Annual Reports & accounts  7 7 
Audit fees  21 20 
Other fees paid to auditors for assurance services  9 8 
Legal & Consultancy fees  1 13 
 40 49 

 
5. Net Income/expenditure for the year 
 

  2019 2018 

This is stated after charging/crediting:  £000 £000 

Amortisation/depreciation charge for the year  73 63 

Auditors’ remuneration – audit fees (excluding  VAT)  17 17 

Other fees paid to auditors (excluding VAT)  8 6 

 
 

6. Trustees and employees 
 
The trustees and persons connected with them have not received or obtained any 
remuneration or other financial benefits during the year, directly or indirectly from 
the Charity’s funds (2018: nil).  During the year one trustee was reimbursed a total of 
£124 travelling expenses (2018: one trustee, £201).   
 

 

Employee and staff costs   2019  2018 

Staff costs during the year were as follows:   £000  £000 

Salaries   3,476  3,448 

Employer’s national insurance   350  352 

Employer’s regular pension scheme contributions    434  436 

   4,260  4,236 

 
During the year, there were 2 termination payments made amounting to 14k (2018 £Nil).  There were 
no outstanding payments at the year end. 

 
 
Average number  - Full-time equivalents (Headcount)   

2019 

 
 

2018 
 Regional HQ Total  Total 

Cost of raising funds 4(4) 8(9) 12(13)  12 (12) 

Alleviating Need – grants & allowances 26(29) 30(33) 56(62)  57 (64) 

Management & support - 25(27) 25(27)  26 (29) 

In 2019 30(33) 63(69) 93(102)  95 (105) 

In 2018 27(30) 68(75) 95(105)   
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Number of employees with emoluments (including taxable benefits but excluding 
employer pension costs) exceeding £60,000 
 

 2019 2018 
£60,001 - £70,000 3 1 

£70,001 - £80,000 1 2 

£80,001 - £90,000 1 1 

£90,001 - £100,000 1 1 

Employer pension contributions paid in respect of a defined 
contributions pension scheme 

£54,034 £43,938 

 
The key management personnel of the Charity comprise the Chief Executive Officer 
and three Directors.  The total employee benefits of the key management personnel of 
the Charity were £392,129 (2018: £413,286), including salary, employer pension 
contributions, Health Cash Plan premiums and employer National Insurance 
contributions. 
 
 
 
 
Our senior management team remuneration in 2019 was as follows: 
 

 2019 2018  

Position 
Date of 

joining/ 
leaving 

Basic 
Salary 

Benefit
s 

Employers 
Pension 

conts. 

Total 
remuneration  

Total 
remuneration 

Chief Executive  £98,396  £13,775 £112,171 £110,438 

Director of Help 
and Advice 

 £77,647 £222 £10,870 £88,739 £86,992 

Director of 
Finance & 
Corporate Services 

 £85,102 £222 £11,930 £97,254 £94,166 

 
Director of 
Marketing and 
Audience 
Engagement 
 

 
Left 25th 
July 2019 

 
£44,635 

 
£129 

 
£2,626 

 
£47,390 

 
£80,812 

Director of                       
Strategic Marketing 
and Income 
Generation 
 

Joined 9th 
Decembe
r 2019 

£4,903 Nil Nil 
 

£4,903 Nil 
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 2019  2018 

 Total remuneration £350,457  £372,408 
 

Employers NI 
 

£38,417 
 

 £40,878 
 

Dependents Pension Benefit annual premium (not BIK) £3,255   

Grand Total £392,129  £413,286 
 

 
 
7. Volunteers 
 
The Charity had 454 volunteers situated across the UK by the end of 2019.  We recruited 
112 new volunteers throughout the year.  The majority of these volunteers are working 
civil servants and are based in 35 government departments. 
 
Our volunteers have either received help in the past or know a colleague, family 
member or friend who has received help and are inspired to contribute to the Charity 
in this way. Volunteers support the delivery of help and advice by visiting applicants 
to assist with the completion of applications.  They promote the Charity 
communications and circulate materials within their workplaces.  Volunteers also 
help to promote the Charity’s services by distributing promotional materials, 
attending workplace awareness events, delivering talks on the services we provide and 
advising colleagues on how they can apply for help.  Volunteers help us to test new 
digital initiatives, forms and tools prior to their launch to enable us to ensure our 
products are offering the right service as well as functioning to a high standard. 
 
 
 
 
8. Intangible fixed assets 

 

 
 

  
Website & 
software  Total 

Cost or valuation    £000  £000 

Balance at  01.01.2019    61  61 

Additions    21  21 

Balance at  31.12.2019    82  82 

Accumulated amortization        

Balance at  01.01.2019    11  11 

Charge for the year     25  25 

Balance at  31.12.2019    36  36 

Net book value at 31.12.2019    46  46 
Net book value at 31.12.2018    50  50 
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9. Tangible fixed assets 
 
 

 

 
 

Freehold 
property 

 
Fixtures, 

fittings and 
equipment 

 Total 

Cost or valuation  £000  £000  £000 
Balance at 01.01.2019  940  520  1,460 
Additions  0  11  11 
Balance at 31.12.2019  940  531  1,471 
Accumulated depreciation       

Balance at 01.01.2019  225  455  680 
Charge for the year   13  35  48 
Balance at 31.12.2019  238  490  728 
Net book value at 31.12.2019  702  41  743 
Net book value at 31.12.2018  715  65  780 

 
The Charity’s property at No 5 Anne Boleyn’s Walk, Cheam, was re-valued by Christie 
& Co, Surveyors, Valuers and Agents, in June 2000.  All adjustments necessary to 
reflect the value as at that date were charged to the Revaluation Reserve.  Subsequent 
depreciation has been based on the re valued amounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. Fixed asset investments 
 
(a) Investment portfolio 
The investment portfolio is managed by Baring Asset Management and is held mainly 
in the form of bonds and index-linked funds. 

 

The investments shown above as managed by Barings have been valued at fair value 
(their market value) on 31 December 2019. 
 

Movements in the investment portfolio in the year 
 

 2019 
£000 

2018 
£000 

Market value at 1 January    37,624 43,180 
Dividends received – re-invested   333 604 

Interest re-invested   459 236 

Net ( disposals)    (3,500) (3,500) 

Net investment (loss)/gain   4,183 (2,896) 

Market value at 31 December    39,099 37,624 
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Additional disclosure on investments held by Baring Asset Management is set out 
below, reflecting the asset types and geographical analysis of the underlying 
investments. 

 
 
 
At 31 December 2019, the Charity had entered into 12 foreign exchange hedging 
contracts to reduce the risk of currency fluctuations in overseas assets. 8 contracts will 
expire in February 2020 and 4 contracts will expire in April 2020. 
 
 
(b) Investment in subsidiary 
 
The Charity has an investment in one wholly owned subsidiary CSBF Enterprises 
Limited, a company registered in England & Wales, No. 03119311, with ordinary issued 
share capital of 7 shares of £1 each.  The investment is held at a cost of £7.  As the 
accounts are rounded to £000s, this investment is not shown on the balance sheet, and 
consolidated accounts are not prepared, as the subsidiary is not material to the assets, 
liabilities or net results of the Charity.  The subsidiary does not employ any staff directly 
and an administrative charge of £7,679 (2018: £13,980) has been made to offset the cost 
of time spent by Charity staff on behalf of CSBF Enterprises Ltd.  At the year end the 
subsidiary donated all its profits being £1,941 to the Charity.  In 2018 it made a loss in 
the year and no donation has been made to the Charity.  Its reserves at year end were 
£10,270 (2018: £10,270). At the year end, CSBF Enterprises Limited owed the charity 
£10,263 (2018: 14,739) 

 2019  2018 

 Market 
Value 
£000 

  
% Total 

 Market 
Value 
£000 

 
% Total 

Equities  -United Kingdom 5,188  13.27%  3,520  9.36% 
 -Europe 4,113  10.52%  2,697  7.17% 
 -Global 792  2.02%  426  1.13% 
 -Japan 898  2.30%  5,391  14.32% 
 -North America 3,846  9.84%  2,768  7.36% 
 -Emerging market 2,485  6.35%  1,666  4.43% 

  17,322  44.30%  16,468  43.77% 
         
Bonds  14,974 

 
 38.30% 

 
 14,910  39.63% 

                         
Alternatives Property 4,105  10.50%  4,774  12.69% 
 Alternative equity 508  1.30%  -  - 
 Precious metals -  -  -  - 
 4,613 

 
 11.80% 

 
 4,774  12.69% 

        
Cash and cash equivalents   2,022 

 
 5.17% 

 
 1,852  4.92% 

        
Foreign exchange contracts  168  0.43%  (380)  (1.01%) 
        
Total portfolio 39,099  100.00%  37,624  100.00% 
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11. Debtors 

 
 
12. Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 

 
 

 
2019 
£000 

  
2018 

£000 
Trade creditors 224  145 

Other creditors 4  4 

Pension contributions 51  49 

Taxation and social security costs 101  95 

Accruals  208  254 

 588  547 

 
13. Operating Leases 

 

  
2019 
£000  

2018 
£000 

Trade debtors: -  1 
Other debtors:    

- Repayable grants 72  80 
- Sundry debtors 4  4 

Prepayments 174  109 
Accrued income:    

- Contributions from individuals 157  169 
- Legacies 103  357 
- Tax credits on gift aid donations 76  9 
- Other accrued income 120  0 
- Investment income 38  18 

Due from CSBF Enterprises Ltd 10  15 
 

 

 

 

 

754  762 

 2019 
£000 

 2018 
£000 

Rentals charged in the year    

Equipment  35     34 
    

 Equipment 

 
2019 
£000 

 
2018 

£000 

The total future minimum lease payments under operating 
leases are due as follows: 

   

- in less than one year 33  33 
- in more than one year and less than five years                  58  

] 
 13 
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14. Funds 
 
The Charity maintains various types of fund as set out below. 
 
Unrestricted funds 
 
Unrestricted funds represent the free funds of the Charity which are expendable at the 
discretion of the trustees to further the objects of the Charity. 
 
Restricted funds 
 
Restricted funds are those funds which are to be used in accordance with specific 
restrictions imposed by donors or which have been raised by the Charity for particular 
purposes. 
 
Customs & Excise Family Fund 
A restricted donation of £30,000 was given to the Charity in March 2006, following the 
dissolution of The Customs & Excise Family Fund.  This was to provide Christmas grants to 
certain members of the Family Fund, in line with the wishes of their trustees.  Interest 
earned on the Restricted fund was £0 (2018: £0) and grants expenditure was £540 (2018: 
£660). 
 
Creedy House Care Foundation 
Creedy House Care Foundation, a registered charity, whose object was to make payments to 
beneficiaries, was dissolved at 31 December 2010 and its net assets were transferred to the 
Charity as restricted for use of beneficiaries’ payments.  Interest earned on the restricted 
fund was £ 0 (2018: £0) and the remaining £63,091 was spent in 2019 (2018: £70,452). 
 
Fenton Trust 
Restricted donations of £20,000 and £15,000 were given to the Charity in March 2013 and 
September 2015 respectively to support current, former and retired civil servants of grades 
executive officer and above residing in the UK.  This is to provide grants for essential 
household bills and items and help with mobility requirements.  Only £597 was spent in 2019 
(2018: £0) due to the very strict restrictions placed by the donor. 
 
Civil Aviation Authority Fund 
A donation provided by the Civil Aviation Authority was restricted to provide help to CAA 
retired staff and their dependants.  In 2019, the interest earned on the restricted fund was 
£0 (2018: £0) and £0 were spent (2018: £0) as no applications from CAA retirees or their 
dependants were received. 
 
Dementia Fund 
In 2014, CSIS Charity Fund donated £28,000 to be spent on Dementia services.  No funds 
were spent in 2019 (2018: £0). During 2019, a new project has been developed in partnership 
with Dementia UK. The remaining restricted fund will be spent on this project which will be 
launched in 2020. 
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The Black Bequest Fund 
In 2019, the Northern Lighthouse Board donated to the Charity £1,719.62 which represents 
the closing funds of the James Coats Junior Ferguslie Paisley Memorial Fund, known as 
Black Bequest. The amount is restricted to be used to supply Lightkeepers’ or their 
dependants who are or have been in the employ of the Northern Lighthouse Board with 
benefits in line with those offered by the Charity. No interest has been earned on nor 
money spent from the Fund in 2019. 
 
Analysis of movements 

 
        

Restricted Funds 
Opening 
Balance 

 Income  Transfers 
between 

Funds 

 Expenditure  Closing 
Balance 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
Customs & Excise  
Family Fund 
 

17  -  -  -  17 

Creedy House Care 
Foundation 

64  -  -  (64)  - 

Fenton Trust 7  -  -  -  7 
CAA Fund 6  -  -  -  6 
Black Bequest Fund -  2  -  -  2 
Dementia Project Fund 23  -  -  -  23 

Balance at 31 
December 2019 

117 
 

2  -  (64)  55 

 
Analysis of net assets by fund 
 

 
Intangible 
& tangible 

fixed assets 

  
Investment 

assets 

 Net 
Current 

assets 

 Defined 
Pension 
scheme 

  
 

Total 
Unrestricted funds £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
General reserves 789  39,099  611  -  40,499 
Pension reserve -  -  -  -  - 
Restricted funds -  -  55  -  55 
Balance at 31 
December 2019 

789  39,099  666  -  40,554 
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Analysis of movements for the Year Ended 31 December 2018 
 

Restricted Funds 
Opening 
Balance 

 Income  Transfers 
between 

Funds 

 Expenditure  Closing 
Balance 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
Customs & Excise  
Family Fund 
 

17  -  -  -  17 

Creedy House Care 
Foundation 

134  -  -  (70)  64 

Fenton Trust 7  -  -  -  7 
CAA Fund 6  -  -  -  6 
Dementia Project Fund 23  -  -  -  23 

Balance at 31 
December 2018 

187 
 

-  -  (70)  117 

 
 

Analysis of net assets by fund the Year Ended 31 December 2018 

 
Intangible 
& tangible 

fixed assets 

  
Investment 

assets 

 Net 
Current 

assets 

 Defined 
Pension 
scheme 

  
 

Total 
Unrestricted funds £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
General reserves 830  37,624  643  -  39,097 
Pension reserve -  -  -  (1,791)  (1,791) 
Restricted funds -  -  117  -  117 
Balance at 31 
December 2018 

830  37,624  760  (1,791)  37,423 

 
15. Taxation 
 
No corporation tax arises as the Charity for Civil Servants is a registered Charity, and is able to 
take advantage of the tax relief available to charitable bodies. 
 
16. Pension schemes  
 
The Charity for Civil Servants participates in a non-contributory multi-employer defined 
benefit staff pension scheme, which was formed for all permanent members of staff, within 
certain age criteria, of the Charity for Civil Servants and certain other employers.  The assets 
of the scheme are held separately from the assets of the Charity.  The scheme has its own 
trustees who are responsible for the scheme which is administered of their behalf by JLT 
Benefits Solutions Ltd.  The scheme was closed to all staff for future benefit accrual with effect 
from 5 April 2004. 
 
The Charity also operates a defined contribution group personal pension scheme which is 
administered by Legal & General.  The Charity pays varying levels of contributions on behalf of 
the employees, based on their number of years’ service and levels of employees’ own 
contributions. 
 
A full triennial actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme was undertaken at 6 April 
2019 by an independent qualified actuary.  This revealed a deficit, on the assumptions used, of 
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£1,855,000.  The employers signed up to a recovery plan which is intended to eliminate the 
shortfall by 5 April 2023.  The Charity is committed to paying the following contributions and 
expenses. 
 

Year Commencing Contribution Expenses 
6 April 2019 £485,892 £141,000 
6 April 2020 £453,446 £188,000 
6 April 2021 £468,460 £188,000 
6 April 2022 £483,924 £188,000 

 
The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the Charity for the year beginning 1 January 
2020 is £637,808.  Detailed disclosures for the defined benefit pension scheme, in accordance 
with FRS102, are set out below. 
 
 

 

Present value of scheme liabilities, fair value of assets and deficit 
 2019 

£000 
 2018 

£000 

Fair value of scheme assets 21,175  20,371 

Present value of scheme liabilities (20,875)  (22,162) 

Surplus/(deficit) in Scheme 300  (1,791) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Charity has decided not to recognise this surplus on its balance sheet given the triennial 
actuarial valuation produced a deficit and the consequential recovery plan that the trustees 
have signed up to. 
 
 
 Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of scheme liabilities 

 2019 
£000  

2018 
£000 

Scheme liabilities at 1 January 
 

22,162  23,702 

Change in employer’s share (271)  - 

Scheme expenses 278  225 

Interest cost 581  581 

Actuarial gain/(loss) 688  (1,107) 

Benefits paid and expenses (2,563)  (1,239) 

Scheme liabilities at 31 December 20,875  22,162 
 
 

 
Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of scheme assets 

 
 2019 

£000 
 

2018 
£000 

Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 20,371  21,796 

Change in employer’s share (255)  - 

Interest income 536  538 
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Actuarial gain/(loss) 2,464  (1,333) 

Contributions by employer   622  609 

Benefits paid & scheme expenses (2,563)  (1,239) 

Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December 21,175 
 

 20,371 
 
Amounts included within Statement of Financial Activities 

   

 2019 
£000 

 2018 
£000 

Interest cost (581)  (581) 

Interest income 534  538 

Scheme expenses (278)  (225) 

Change in employer’s share -  - 

Total (charged) within net income 
 

(325)  (268) 

Actuarial (losses)/gains 1,492  (226) 

Total (charged)/credited to the Statement of Financial 
Activities 
 
 

1,167  (494) 

 
 
 
The cumulative amount of actuarial gains or losses recognised in the statement of recognised 
gains and losses since the adoption of FRS102 is £65,000 gain (2018: £1,427,000 loss).  
 
Fair value of scheme assets 
 

 2019 
£000 

  
% 

 2018 
£000 

  
% 

UK equity 1,541  7%  1,428  7% 

Other equity 1,541  7%  1,428  7% 

Global equity 12,362  58%  12,290  60% 

Absolute Return Bond Fund 1,873  9%  2,100  10% 

Liability Driven Investment 3,300  16%  2,937  15% 

Cash 558  3%  188  1% 

Total value of assets  21,175  100%  20,371  100% 
 
 
The Scheme implemented a new investment approach in January 2019. 
 
 
 
 

Assumptions 2019  2018 
    
Inflation (RPI) 3.1%  3.4% 
Inflation (CPI) 2.1%  2.4% 
Discount rate 2.0%  2.8% 
Allowance for increase in pensions: lower of RPI and 5% 
 

n/a  3.25% 
Allowance for increase in pensions: lower of CPI or 5% 2.15%  2.4% 
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(effective from April 2017)    
Rate of revaluation of deferred pensions of CPI +1% 3.1%  n/a 
Rate of revaluation for deferred pensioners: RPI + 1% n/a  4.4% 
Rate of revaluation for deferred pensioners: Lower of CPI or 5% 2.1%  2.4% 
Cash commutation allowance (% tax free cash) 85%  85% 
Withdrawal allowance None  None 
Assumed life expectations (no. years) on retirement age of 60    
- Retiring today: males 25.8  26.8 
- Retiring today: females 28.2  28.8 
- Retiring in 20 years: males 26.9  28.7 
- Retiring in 20 years: females 29.4  30.8 

 
 
The amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows: 
 

 2019 
£000 

 2018 
£000 

 2017 
£000 

 2016 
£000 

 2015 
£000 

Defined benefit 
obligation 

21,175  (22,162)  (23,702)  (24,044)  (20,369) 
Scheme assets (20,875)  20,371  21,796  20,557  18,869 

Surplus/(Deficit) 300  (1,791)  (1,906)  (3,487)  (1,500) 

          
Adjustment due to 
limitations on 
recognition of surplus 
 

(300)  -  -  -  - 

Experience adjustment: 
gain/(loss) on scheme 
liabilities 

678  (66)  171  520  118 

Effect of changes in 
demographic/other 
assumptions re: the 
present value of the 
scheme liabilities; 
gain/loss 

(1,350)  1,173  (28)  (4,305)  981 

Return on scheme assets:  
gains/(losses) 
assets 

2,464  (1,333)  988  1,326  (344) 

  

 
17. Financial instruments 
 

 2019 2018 

 £000 £000 
 

Financial assets measured at fair value 39,099 37,624 

Financial assets held at fair value include assets held as investments 

 

 



THE CHARITY FOR CIVIL SERVANTS 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

 

54 
 
 

 

18. Related parties 
 

There were no related party transactions in 2020 (2019: no transactions). 
 

19. Events after the end of the year 
 

Since the balance sheet date of 31 December 2019, there have been levels of volatility 
in world stock markets that have resulted in a material change in the valuation 
Charity’s investments. This was mainly due to concerns about the current and 
potential impact on the global economy of the coronavirus outbreak.  The MSCI World 
Index (hedged to sterling) fell 20.41% in the three months to 31 March and the UK 
equity index fell 28.59% over the same period.  The Charity’s portfolio declined in value 
by 15.33% over this period and was valued at £32.1m million at 31 March, down from 
£39.1 million on 31 December 2019. We anticipate that market volatility will continue 
until there is greater certainty about the longer-term impact of these issues. 
 
The value of the Charity’s share of the assets in the defined benefit pension scheme 
has also fallen.  These were worth £19.1m as at31 March 2020 compared with a value 
at 31 December of £21.2m. 
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20. Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 December 2018 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted 

Funds 

2018 
Total  

Funds   
Income from  £000 £000 £000 
       

Donations and legacies  5,507    5,507 

Other income  38  -  38 

Investment Income  840  -  840 

Total income  6,385  -  6,385 

 

Expenditure on 
      

Raising funds 
      

Fundraising & Engagement 
 

1,567 
 

 
 1,567 

Investment management 
 

135    135 

Total costs of raising funds 
 

1,702  -  1,702 

Charitable activities 
      

 Alleviating need 
 

6,840  70  6,910 

Total charitable expenditure  6,840  70  6,910 

Total expenditure  8,542  70  8,612 

Net income/(expenditure) for the year  (2,157)  (70)  (2,227) 

Net (loss)/gains on investments   (2,896)  -  (2,896) 

Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit pension 
scheme 

 (226)  -  (226) 

Net movement in funds for the year  (5,279)  (70)  (5,349) 

       
Reconciliation of funds       
Funds brought forward at 1 January 2018  42,585  187  42,772 

Funds carried forward at 31 December 2018  37,306  117  37,423 
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T: 020 8240 2400 F: 020 8240 2401  
E: info@foryoubyyou.org.uk  W: foryoubyyou.org.uk

The Civil Service Benevolent Fund. Company limited by guarantee 7286399. 
A charity registered at the above address in England and Wales no. 1136870 
and in Scotland SC041956. Our money advice is authorised and regulated 
by the Financial Conduct Authority FRN: 624489.
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